2016

**The State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee v. Joseph Trujillo,
Defendant/ Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Mr. Trujillo pleaded guilty to failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop. He made no additional admissions to the court or promises to pay restitution. The court awarded \$2,500 in restitution based on the prosecutor's assertions at sentencing that Mr. Trujillo had been driving a stolen car which had accrued \$2,500 in impound fees.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the district court's final order of restitution following a guilty plea to failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop, a third degree felony, Utah Code § 41-6a-210, in the Third Juridical District, Salt Lake County, Utah, the Honorable Katie Bernards-Goodman presiding. R. 63-64; 91. A copy of the Sentence, Judgment, Commitment is attached as Addendum A and a copy of the restitution order is attached as Addendum B. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code § 78A-4-103(e)(2).

ISSUE, STANDARD OF REVIEW, PRESERVATION

Issue: Mr. Trujillo admitted and pleaded guilty to failing to respond to an officer's signal to stop and did not agree to pay any restitution. Under Utah law, a defendant cannot be ordered to pay restitution for criminal activities if he did not admit responsibility, was not convicted, and did not agree to pay restitution. The issue is whether the court erred when it entered a restitution award for \$2,500 based on the prosecutor's assertion that the defendant was driving a stolen car and the owner had accrued \$2,500 in impound fees.

Standard of Review: This Court will reverse a district court's order of restitution when the district court "exceeds the authority prescribed by law or abuses its discretion. Furthermore, whether a restitution award is proper depends solely upon interpretation of the governing statute, and the [district] court's interpretation of a statute presents a question of law, which this court reviews for correctness." *State v. Brown*, 2009 UT App 285, ¶ 6, 221 P.3d 273 (alterations omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Preservation: Counsel objected to the restitution award at the restitution hearing. R. 112-13. Counsel also filed a motion to set aside the judgment. R. 65-66.

STATUTES AND RULES

The following statutes are relevant to the issue on appeal: Utah Code §§ 77-38a-102, 77-38a-302, and 41-6a-210. Their text is provided in Addendum C.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Mr. Trujillo with failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop and he pleaded guilty. R. 1-2; 27-33. At sentencing, the State asked for \$2,500

restitution based on car impound fees and the court ordered it. R. 114. Mr. Trujillo filed a motion to set aside the restitution order, which was denied. R. 65; 91. Mr. Trujillo filed a timely notice of appeal. R. 95.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Trujillo pleaded guilty as charged to failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop. R. 1-2; 27-33.

The plea form stated that Mr. Trujillo failed "to stop in response to law enforcement's signal to stop" and that he "was driving [and] ignored" the officer's "lights signaling for Mr. Trujillo to pull over, although he saw them." R. 29. There is no further mention of the car.

The Presentence Report notes that Mr. Trujillo failed to stop and that the abandoned vehicle was located shortly thereafter. R. 46. The portion of the report for victim impact statement and restitution reads: "There are no victims or restitution owed in . . . [the] case." R. 48.

At sentencing, the State brought up a new issue. R. 110. After some initial confusion about whether the issue related to this case or to a drug case, the State explained that although Mr. Trujillo "was not charged with possession of a stolen motor vehicle," he "was charged with fleeing I believe." R. 110. And "on the fleeing case, he was in a stolen car. That car was impounded. The victim wants to get it out of impound but can't afford it. So we would ask for restitution on that case." R. 110. The State introduced no testimony or exhibits regarding who owned the vehicle, whether Mr.

Trujillo had permission to be driving it, or the amount of the impound fees. The prosecutor's assertion at sentencing was the only basis for restitution.

The prosecutor explained that "[t]hey said that the impound fees are up to \$2,500," acknowledging that this was "ridiculous." R. 110. According to the prosecutor, the fee would only be \$700 "if he could get it now" but the prosecutor did not "know how Mr. Trujillo is going to be able to pay that quickly." R. 110.

Mr. Trujillo's counsel responded that the law does not allow restitution for crimes to which a defendant did not plead guilty. R. 112. In fact, Mr. Trujillo was not even "charged with driving a stolen car" and maintained that the car belonged to his niece, who allowed him to borrow it. R. 112-13. Additionally, the car was a 1977 Chevrolet, so the \$2,500 figure struck Mr. Trujillo as surprisingly high. R. 113.

The court ordered restitution at the sentencing hearing without analysis. R. 114 ("I'm going to order \$2,500 in restitution").

Mr. Trujillo filed a motion to set aside the restitution order. The motion explained that it was undisputed that Mr. Trujillo never agreed to pay restitution and that he pleaded guilty only to failing to respond to an officer's signal to stop. R. 65-66. And the motion cited controlling Utah case law explaining that a "defendant cannot be ordered to pay restitution for criminal activities for which the defendant did not admit responsibility, was not convicted, or did not agree to pay restitution." R. 66 (citing *State v. Larsen*, 2009 UT App 293, ¶ 6, 221 P.3d 277). The State filed a motion in opposition, in which it "agree[d] that the defendant did not plead guilty to an offense involving his knowledge that he was in possession of a stolen motor vehicle." R. 80. The motion cited no case

law, but made the same argument from sentencing that the car was impounded and the “defendant’s actions directly led to pecuniary loss” in the amount of \$2,500. R. 81. Again the court ordered restitution without analysis. R. 91.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Trujillo did not admit responsibility for a crime that caused pecuniary damage. He did not plead guilty or admit responsibility for stealing a car, or even for illegally parking one. The law in Utah is clear that restitution is improper in cases where the defendant has not admitted responsibility, was not convicted, and has not agreed to pay. Mr. Trujillo never admitted responsibility for a crime requiring \$2,500 in impound lot fees. The State introduced no evidence, relying instead on the prosecutor’s unsupported and disputed statements at the sentencing hearing. The court erred when it awarded restitution and this Court should reverse.

ARGUMENT

I. The court erred when it awarded restitution for conduct Mr. Trujillo never admitted based on the prosecutor’s unsupported assertions.

A “defendant cannot be ordered to pay restitution for criminal activities for which the defendant did not admit responsibility, was not convicted, or did not agree to pay restitution.” *State v. Larsen*, 2009 UT App 293, ¶ 6, 221 P.3d 277 (internal quotation marks omitted); R. 66. Under the Crime Victims Restitution Act, “[c]riminal activities” means any offense of which the defendant is convicted or any other criminal conduct for which the defendant admits responsibility to the sentencing court with or without an admission of committing the criminal conduct.” Utah Code § 77-38a-102(2). The

Restitution Act applies “[w]hen a defendant is convicted of criminal activity that has resulted in pecuniary damages” or when the defendant “has agreed to make restitution as part of a plea disposition.” Utah Code § 77-38a-302(1). Mr. Trujillo was convicted of one criminal activity for which he admitted responsibility — failing to stop. The crime occurs when a person “receives a visual or audible signal from a peace officer to bring the vehicle to a stop” and “attempt[s] to flee or elude a peace officer by vehicle or other means.” Utah Code § 41-6a-210(1)(a)(ii). No pecuniary damages resulted from it and he did not agree to pay restitution as part of a plea deal. R. 48 (PSI indicating no victims or restitution); 80 (State’s concession that he did not plead guilty to possessing a stolen car).

“[T]he [restitution] statute requires that responsibility for the criminal conduct be firmly established, much like a guilty plea, before the court can order restitution.” *State v. Harvell*, 2009 UT App 271, ¶ 9, 220 P.3d 174 (internal quotation marks omitted). “It does not ask the trial court to analyze a defendant’s state of mind, but rather asks it to focus on admissions made to the sentencing court.” *State v. Watson*, 1999 UT App 273, ¶ 5, 987 P.2d 1289. In *Watson*, the defendant was originally charged with attempted criminal homicide and criminal homicide for driving two codefendants to and from the location where two victims were shot. *Id.* ¶¶ 2, 4. She pleaded guilty to attempted obstruction of justice, for which there was no pecuniary damage. *Id.* ¶ 5. But the district “court focused on the phrase ‘criminal conduct for which the defendant admits’” and determined that “the defendant did admit to the responsibility of driving this vehicle” and to “hearing the shots, individuals running towards the vehicle, her admission that she drove the vehicle away. In this court’s opinion is sufficient nexus to hold her accountable

for restitution in this particular case and meets the statutory definition.” *Id.* ¶ 4 (internal quotation marks omitted). The court of appeals reversed because “[w]ithout making inferences as the trial court did, it cannot be said that [the defendant] admitted responsibility for the murder nor did she agree to pay restitution. [The defendant] only admitted and pleaded guilty to the obstruction of justice charge.” *Id.* ¶ 5.

And in *State v. Mast*, 2001 UT App 402, ¶ 18, 40 P.3d 1143, the defendant’s conviction for receiving stolen property and her failure to be “entirely forthcoming regarding her receipt of the property” did “not allow a court to infer this as participation in” a burglary and order restitution for “all items stolen in the burglary.” In *Larsen*, the defendant made certain admissions in the presentence report, but the statements were “too broad” to “amount to an admission of theft” because they “describe[d] an overall mode of operation rather than an admission to this particular theft.” 2009 UT App 293, ¶ 9. “Because Defendant ha[d] not admitted to theft,” through anything but inference, “he [could] not be ordered to pay restitution on the damages resulting from the theft itself.” *Id.*

In *Watson*, *Mast*, and *Larsen* there were possible inferences based on the defendants’ admissions that the defendants were responsible for additional losses. But that was still not enough to support an order of restitution. In this case, Mr. Trujillo admitted that a police officer turned on his lights and Mr. Trujillo did not stop. That is all. At the sentencing hearing, he stated that the car belonged to his niece, that he had permission to drive it, and that the restitution figure would be too high for the vehicle regardless of fault. R. 112-13. Mr. Trujillo’s case has significantly less to support a

restitution order than the cases above. Unlike *Watson*, Mr. Trujillo was never even charged with the crime for which he was ordered to pay restitution. Compare 1999 UT App 273, ¶ 2, with R. 1. Unlike *Mast*, Mr. Trujillo did not admit to being responsible for some of the restitution in a crime with additional related losses. 2001 UT App 402, ¶ 18. And unlike *Larsen*, where the PSI indicated that the defendant admitted to stealing things, the PSI in Mr. Trujillo's case indicated, "There are no victims or restitution owed in . . . [the] case." Compare 2009 UT App 293, ¶ 2, with R. 48.

Notably, Mr. Trujillo cited this controlling precedent, and neither the State nor the court differentiated it. R. 79-81; 91. "If the court determines that restitution is appropriate or inappropriate under [the Crime Victim's Restitution Act], the court shall make the reasons for the decision part of the court record." Utah Code § 77-38a-302(3). In *State v. Poulsen*, 2012 UT App 292, ¶ 14, 288 P.3d 601, this Court called "the 'reasons for the decision' included as 'part of the court record'" "unenlightening." In Mr. Trujillo's case, they were entirely absent. R. 91. The court provided no analysis for its order. The order states: "Based upon the Court's order of the restitution amount of \$2,500.00 and the request for the State to file an order for the restitution amount. IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Defendant pay complete and court ordered restitution in the amount of \$2,500 for the benefit of the victim." R. 91.

Furthermore, the only basis for restitution in the record is the prosecutor's claim at the sentencing hearing that the car was stolen, impounded, and accrued the "ridiculous" sum of \$2,500 in fees. R. 110. The State introduced no testimony and no exhibits. Mr. Trujillo denied that the car was stolen and explained that the owner of the car was not the

person the State claimed was the victim. R. 112-113. In *Poulsen*, the defendant pleaded guilty to soliciting funds for a pyramid scheme and receiving compensation. *Id.* ¶ 14. He “stipulate[d] that the victims’ net loss was \$168,400” and “the State produced photocopies of negotiable instruments from which that amount was calculated.” *Id.* ¶ 16. This Court called the State’s proffers “bare bones” and held that they did “not flesh out the causal nexus between the criminal conduct and the loss, leaving little basis to determine whether that nexus is too attenuated (either factually or temporally).” *Id.* (brackets omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court held that the “nexus between [the defendant’s] participation [in a pyramid scheme] and [the] victims’ losses [wa]s not obvious” and reversed. *Id.* In Mr. Trujillo’s case, the court relied on a lawyer’s airy assertions, not even the “bare bones” evidence of checks and letters. And the nexus between failure to respond to an officer’s signal to stop and \$2,500 in impound fees for a stopped vehicle is more attenuated than a pyramid scheme is to the victims’ stipulated losses. *See* Utah Code § 41-6a-210(1)(a).

The district court erred when it awarded restitution in this case. Mr. Trujillo admitted guilt and pleaded guilty to a crime with no victims and no pecuniary damages. This Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Trujillo respectfully requests that this Court reverse and set aside the district court's order of restitution.