2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/ Appellee, v. Joseph Trujillo, Defendant/
Appellant.**

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant appeals from convictions for a restitution order entered following a guilty plea for failure to respond to an officer's stop, a third degree felony. This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e) (West Supp. 2012).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the trial court properly ordered restitution where the car impound fees were causally related to defendant's failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop?

Standard of Review. "Trial courts are vested with wide latitude and discretion in sentencing, and [appellate courts] will not disturb a trial court's restitution order unless it exceeds that prescribed by law or

otherwise abused its discretion. A trial court will be deemed to have abused its discretion only if no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court." *State v. Hight*, 2008 UT App 118, ¶ 2, 182 P.3d 922 (internal quotation and citation omitted) (brackets in original). If the trial court's decision rests on its interpretation of a statute, that interpretation is reviewed for correctness. See *State v. Miller*, 2007 UT App 332, ¶ 6, 170 P.3d 1141.

STATUTES

The following relevant statutes are attached as *Addendum A*:

Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-102 (West 2015)

Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302 (West 2013)

Utah Code Ann. § 41-6a-210 (West 2005)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Defendant was charged by information and pled guilty to failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 41-6a-210. R1-2, 63-64. In his plea form, Defendant stated that he "fail[ed] to stop in response to law enforcement's signal to stop" and that he "was driving [and] ignored [the officer's] lights signaling for [him] to pull over, although he saw them." R29. The trial court sentenced him to a 365-day jail term, with credit granted for 137 days previously served. R63-64. At the sentencing hearing, the State requested

restitution in the amount of \$2,500 because Defendant had fled in and then abandoned a stolen car, which was subsequently impounded. R110. *See also* R80-81. Consequently, the car's owner, Alfonzo Flores, owed \$2,500 in impound fees which he could not pay. R110. Defendant objected to paying restitution, arguing that he was not charged with, and did not plead guilty to, driving a stolen car, and he believed the car belonged to his niece. R112. The trial court ordered restitution in the amount of \$2,500. R114.

Defendant then filed a motion to set aside the restitution judgment. R65-67. He argued that the trial court should set aside its restitution order because his failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop did "not authorize this Court to order him to pay restitution for impoundment fees for the apparently stolen vehicle, as [Defendant] has never admitted to committing criminal offenses against the owner of the vehicle and was never charged nor convicted of knowing it was stolen." R66. Although Defendant noted that the car was only worth \$1,200-\$1,500, *see* R66 n.1, he

did not challenge the accuracy of the restitution amount. *See* R65-67, 110-14.¹

The State filed an opposition. R79-82. The State argued that restitution was proper because “the vehicle was impounded as a result of the defendant’s actions and the owner was unable to obtain the amount of money needed to secure his vehicle from the impound lot.” R79-80. The State agreed “that the defendant did not plead guilty to an offense involving his knowledge that he was in possession of a stolen motor vehicle”, but noted “[t]hat fact does not, however, absolve the defendant of his duty to pay restitution to Mr. Flores. The defendant’s actions were the sole reason

¹ In his brief, Defendant notes that “the only basis for restitution in the record is the prosecutor’s claim at the sentencing hearing that the car was stolen, impounded, and accrued the ‘ridiculous’ sum of \$2,500 in fees.” Aplt. Br. 8. However, this statement does not constitute a challenge to the amount of restitution awarded by the trial court. Before the trial court, Defendant never challenged the amount of the restitution award by asking for an evidentiary hearing or other evidentiary proffer relating to the amount awarded. *See* R65-67, 110-14. Moreover, it is clear from his brief on appeal that Defendant is only challenging the causal nexus of the restitution award and not the amount. *See* Aplt. Br. 8-9 (after noting that the car accrued the “ridiculous” sum of \$2,500 in fees, arguing that “the nexus between failure to respond to an officer’s signal to stop and \$2,500 in impound fees for a stopped vehicle” was too attenuated to support a restitution award); *see also Allen v. Friel*, 2008 UT 56, ¶ 8, 194 P.3d 903 (“It is well settled that issues raised by an appellant in the reply brief that were not presented in the opening brief are considered waived and will not be considered by the appellate court”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

that Mr. Flores' car was impounded, and the sole reason that Mr. Flores owes \$2,500.00 to an impound lot." R80. The State argued that restitution to Mr. Flores was proper under the Crime Victims Restitution Act because "[t]he defendant's actions in this matter directly caused pecuniary loss to Alfonzo Flores, the owner of the vehicle the defendant was driving at the time he fled from police." R. 81. The State noted that "[t]he defendant abandoned the vehicle during the police pursuit, which led to authorities impounding the vehicle." *Id.* Thus, "[t]he impounding of the vehicle led to the accumulation of significant fees required for its release, and the person responsible for the fees to release the vehicle is Mr. Flores." *Id.*

The trial court entered an amended restitution order on September 3, 2015, ordering restitution in the amount of \$2,500. R91-92. Defendant timely appealed. R103-04.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant pled guilty to failing to respond to an officer's signal to stop. After Defendant abandoned the car he was fleeing in, it was impounded. The trial court properly ordered Defendant to pay restitution in the amount of \$2,500 to cover the cost of the car impound fees, for which the car's owner Mr. Flores was responsible. The restitution award was proper under the restitution statutes because Defendant pled guilty to and

was convicted of a crime that resulted in the pecuniary damages for which restitution was awarded. Regardless of whether Defendant stole the car, the car would not have been impounded were it not for Defendant's failure to stop and subsequent abandonment of the vehicle. Thus, "but for" the failure to stop, the car impound fees would not have been incurred, and the causal nexus between the failure to stop and the impound fees was not unduly attenuated either factually or temporally. Consequently, the trial court properly ordered Defendant to pay restitution based on his having failed to respond to an officer's signal to stop.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ORDERED RESTITUTION FOR DAMAGES RESULTING FROM DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO RESPOND TO AN OFFICER'S SIGNAL TO STOP

Defendant claims that the trial court erred in ordering him to pay restitution for the \$2,500 in car impound fees. Aplt. Br. 5-9. He argues that those damages were not the result of the criminal conduct to which he pled guilty. Aplt. Br. 6. Nor, he continues, was there a sufficient nexus "between failure to respond to an officer's signal to stop and \$2,500 in impound fees[.]" Aplt. Br. 9. Defendant cannot prevail on this claim, because he pled guilty to and was convicted of a crime that resulted in the pecuniary damages for which restitution was awarded.

Defendant pled guilty to failing to respond to an officer's signal to stop. R1-2, 63-64. After failing to stop, Defendant then abandoned the vehicle, which led to authorities impounding the vehicle and to its owner, Mr. Flores, accruing \$2,500 in impound fees. R81.

"When a defendant is convicted of criminal activity that has resulted in pecuniary damages, . . . the court shall order that the defendant make restitution to victims of crime as provided in this chapter, or for conduct for which the defendant has agreed to make restitution as part of a plea disposition." Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(1). "'Criminal activities' means any offense of which the defendant is convicted or any other criminal conduct for which the defendant admits responsibility" Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-102(2).

"For the purpose of determining restitution for an offense, the offense shall include any criminal conduct admitted by the defendant to the sentencing court or to which the defendant agrees to pay restitution." Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(5)(a). "In determining the monetary sum . . . the court shall consider all relevant facts," including "the cost of damage or loss if the offense resulted in damage to or loss or destruction of property of a victim of the offense." Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-302(5)(b). A "victim" is "any person whom the court determines has suffered pecuniary damages as

a result of the defendant's criminal activities." Utah Code Ann. § 77-38a-102(14)(a).

A "defendant cannot be ordered to pay restitution for criminal activities for which the defendant did not admit responsibility, was not convicted, or did not agree to pay restitution." *State v. Hight*, 2008 UT App 118, ¶ 3 (citation omitted). "Furthermore, the restitution statute 'requires that responsibility for the criminal conduct be firmly established, much like a guilty plea, before the court can order restitution.'" *Id.* (quoting *State v. Watson*, 1999 UT App 273, ¶ 5, 987 P.2d 1289 (per curiam)). Relying on these propositions, Defendant argues that restitution was improperly ordered because his conviction or admitted criminal conduct failed to demonstrate a "sufficient nexus" or "causal relationship" to the car impound fees. Appt. Br. 5-9.

The relevant question is whether the impound fees resulted from the offense to which Defendant pled guilty — failing to respond to an officer's signal to stop. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 77-38a-102(2) & 77-38a-302(1). In making that determination, the modified "but for" test set forth in *State v. McBride*, 940 P.2d 539, 544 (Utah App. 1997), applies. See *State v. Harvell*, 2009 UT App 271, ¶ 12, 220 P.3d 174. "A modified 'but for' test requires (1) that damages would not have occurred but for the conduct underlying

the [defendant's] ... conviction and (2) that the causal nexus between the [criminal] conduct and the loss ... not [be] too attenuated (either factually or temporally)." *Id.* (citing *McBride*, 940 P.2d at 544 n.5) (internal quotation and additional citation omitted) (brackets in *Harvell*).

Defendant pled guilty to failing to respond to an officer's signal to stop, thereby subjecting himself to a restitution order for all of the losses that resulted from that offense. Here, the impoundment of the car resulted — in a "but for" sense — from Defendant's criminal activity because the car would not have been impounded were it not for Defendant's failure to stop and subsequent abandonment of the vehicle. That Defendant did not plead guilty to an offense involving his knowledge that he was in possession of a stolen motor vehicle is irrelevant. Defendant's actions in failing to stop, regardless of whose car he thought he was in, were the sole reason that Mr. Flores' car was impounded, and the sole reason that Mr. Flores now owes \$2,500 to an impound lot. Moreover, the impoundment of the car was a foreseeable consequence of Defendant's failure to stop when signaled to do so by an officer and his subsequent abandonment of the vehicle. *See* R81.

In support of his argument, Defendant discusses three cases which, unlike this one, exemplify the absence of a sufficient nexus between criminal activity and the victim's damages. *Aplt. Br.* 5-9. First, in *State v.*

Larsen, 2009 UT App 293, 221 P.3d 277, Larsen pled guilty to joyriding with intent to temporarily deprive the owner and to unlawful possession of burglary tools and was ordered to pay \$3,554.50 in restitution—the sum of the towing, repairs, labor, parts, and detailing costs. *Id.* at ¶¶ 2-3. Larsen challenged the restitution order, arguing that “he should not be required to pay the full \$3,554.50 because he was not charged with or convicted of theft, did not admit responsibility for damage to the vehicle, and did not agree to pay for those damages.” *Id.* at ¶ 3. Larsen conceded that he was responsible for the \$282 in impound and towing costs. *Id.* This Court reversed the order of restitution, holding that because Larsen had not admitted to theft, he could not be ordered to pay restitution on the damages resulting from the theft itself. *Id.* at ¶ 9.

Next, in *State v. Mast*, 2001 UT App 402, 40 P.3d 1143, Mast was found with some of the articles taken in a burglary. *Id.* at ¶¶ 3-4. She pled guilty to receiving stolen property, but never admitted possessing any of the other stolen property not found on her person. *Id.* at ¶ 5. This Court reversed the order of restitution for all the stolen goods, holding that, based on her plea only to receiving stolen property, Mast “[could not] be held to answer for *all* the damages resulting from the burglary” — damages for items unconnected with Mast’s admitted criminal activity. *Id.* at ¶ 18 (emphasis added).

Finally, in *State v. Watson*, 1999 UT App 273, the Court held that Watson could not be ordered to pay restitution relating to a murder where she had pled guilty only to obstruction of justice for selling the car in which she “allegedly” drove her codefendants to and from the crime scene. *Id.* at ¶¶ 1-2. The Court held that the offense to which Watson pled guilty had no intrinsic relationship to the murder and could be related to it only through impermissible inferences concerning Watson’s having driven the car or her state of mind. *Id.* at ¶¶ 4-6.

Unlike the defendants in those cases, Defendant here admitted to the criminal activity that directly led to the victim’s damages. In other words, “but for” Defendant’s failing to stop when signaled and abandoning the car, the car would not have been impounded. *Cf. Larsen*, 2009 UT App 293, ¶ 3 (defendant conceding that he was responsible for impound and towing costs incurred as a result of his joyriding and unlawful possession pleas, and challenging restitution only on damages resulting from theft of car itself).

Because the impoundment would not have occurred “but for” Defendant’s criminal activity and because the causal nexus between the criminal conduct and the impoundment was not too attenuated, the trial